ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED  
FEB 22 2016  
SC SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 2015-UP-548 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 12/2/2015)

08-CP-40-01439

---

THADDEUSS STARKS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-201146

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

I N D E X

### QUESTION PRESENTED

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial judge's denial of a request for a jury charge on the defense of habitation after finding in effect that petitioner and the deceased were in effect cohabitants of the same residence because petitioner's stepfather's cohabitant status morphed into that of a trespasser when he became intoxicated and violently entered the locked bedroom door of petitioner, who had an expectation of privacy therein and the right to defend himself from an attack in a non-common area of the residence, which in turn meant that a defense of habitation jury charge was applicable in the case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Thaddeus Starks was convicted of voluntary manslaughter during the October 2007 term of the Richland County General Sessions Court before Judge G. Thomas Cooper. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of ten years. Michael D. McMullen represented petitioner at trial. App. 1 -758.

On February 8, 2008, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Richland County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 760-766. The respondent filed a return dated March 5, 2009, requesting that a hearing be held in the case. App. 767-771. A PCR hearing was convened on March 17, 2010, at the Richland County Courthouse before Judge Allison Lee. App. 755-870. Jeremy Thompson represented petitioner at the PCR hearing. On September 28, 2011, Judge Lee issued an order denying petitioner's PCR allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, but granted petitioner's request for a belated direct appeal per White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). App. 887-900.

Petitioner appealed Judge Lee's order and filed a petition for writ of certiorari and brief of appellant pursuant to White v. State on September 20, 2012, and the Respondent's return to the petition and brief pursuant to White v. State were filed on January 29, 2013. On May 8, 2015, the Court of Appeals granted certiorari to review the case on belated direct appeal, but subsequently affirmed the case on December 2, 2015. See State v. Starks, Unpublished Opinion No 2015-UP-548 (December 2, 2015). Supp App. 1-3.

A petition for rehearing was filed in the case on December 17, 2015, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on January 21, 2016. Supp. App. 4-12. This petition for writ of certiorari requesting review of the Court of Appeals' decision in the belated direct appeal per White v. State follows.

## ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial judge's denial of a request for a jury charge on the defense of habitation after finding in effect that petitioner and the deceased were in effect cohabitants of the same residence because petitioner's stepfather's cohabitant status morphed into that of a trespasser when he became intoxicated and violently entered the locked bedroom door of petitioner, who had an expectation of privacy therein and the right to defend himself from an attack in a non-common area of the residence, which in turn meant that a defense of habitation jury charge was applicable in the case.

In this case, the deceased was stabbed by petitioner on October 12, 2006, in a home owned by Betty Ann Starks Cleveland, who was petitioner's mother and the deceased's wife. Mrs. Cleveland was at work when the stabbing occurred and there were no witnesses to the stabbing. The state's case and the case for the defense emanated from petitioner's statements made to police and one neighbor's comments regarding the event. Petitioner did not testify in his defense.

At trial, neighbor Timothy Cornish testified that police arrived at the home in question around 7:30 p.m. on October 12, 2006, to quell a disturbance therein. Cornish stated that the deceased, who had been drinking, wanted petitioner (deceased's stepson) out of the house and that he (deceased) asked for a gun. Cornish stated that later on that evening (after 9:00 p.m.), the deceased lay in his yard with a fatal stab wound to his chest. App. 86, l.3-p. 105, l. 17. Cornish stated that petitioner's response to the stabbing was that "[the deceased] came and kicked the door open and slapped him," so "[he] stabbed [the deceased]." App. 105, l. 18-p. 106, l. 1.

Police Officers John Carwell, Stephanie Watford, Jonathan Haddock, and Kevin Isenhoward all testified at trial and stated that they were dispatched to the crime scene on the night in question.

Officer Carwell testified that petitioner explained that he locked himself in his bedroom to escape from the decedent's rampage, but that the decedent kicked open his bedroom door and slapped him on the face, and that he responded by stabbing the decedent with a kitchen knife. App. 145, l. 18-p. 146, l. 5. Note that it was Officer Carwell who arrived at the home previously on that same date and spoke to Betty Ann Starks Cleveland via telephone and then advised the deceased that petitioner was authorized to reside in the house could not be put out. App. 134 l. 1 – p. 139, l. 24. Officer Watford testified that petitioner explained that he and the deceased argued earlier, but that he was alone in his bedroom with the door locked until the deceased later kicked the door open and backhanded him in the face, and that he (petitioner ) reacted by stabbing the deceased. App. 177, l. 21-p. 178, l. 2. Officer Isenhoward testified that petitioner explained the sequence of the events as follows:

A: [petitioner] said that Mr. Cleveland was intoxicated, and that they had been arguing all night....he said that when Deputy Carwell told [the deceased] that he couldn't do that...[the deceased] was very upset [and] the argument continued to escalate. He says that he called his mother [Betty Ann Starks Cleveland] and ...his mother told him to go to his bedroom, close the door... [petitioner] says that he did that. He said that he was hungry, so he made himself a sandwich and got a knife to cut the sandwich. It says that he took the sandwich on a plate with a knife and a paper towel into his bedroom. He says that he was in the bedroom watching T.V. minding his own business when the door was forced in. He says [the deceased] came into the bedroom and backhanded him is how he put it. He says that when he backhanded him, he was afraid and he took the knife. He used the word "gig" him to get him off of him.

App. 281, l. 16-p. 282, l. 17.

Also, note that the defense presented evidence of the 911 call by petitioner, who called at 9:09 p.m. on October 12, 2006, stating that he "had to cut his step father" because his "stepfather broke into his room." Additionally, note that the deceased called 911 on October 12, 2006, at 8:57 stating "son locked in room." App. 511, lines 11-17; App. 515, l. 16-25.

Defense witness Natasha Clinton-Starks, who was petitioner's wife, testified that when petitioner called her to inform her that the deceased was fighting him, she heard the commotion and the deceased asking the neighbor for a gun. App. 443, l. 4-p. 446, l. 17. Betty Ann Starks Cleveland testified on behalf of the defense and explained that on the night in question, the deceased placed twelve calls to her about how he wanted petitioner out of the house. Cleveland added that petitioner suffered a stroke in 1993 and had little physical use or balance of his left side thereafter. Cleveland stated that petitioner's left hand jerked and he had no balance with his left hand, and that although petitioner was big, he would lose his balance and fall if pushed. App. 460, l. 15-462, l. 10.

On appeal, petitioner argued that the trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury on the defense of habitation. The Court of Appeals addressed the issue of the trial judge's failure to charge the defense of habitation as follows:

We find the trial court correctly denied Stark's request to charge the defense of habitation because Alphonso Cleveland (Victim) was not a trespasser, and therefore, the defense was inapplicable to Stark's case. *See Gaines*, 380 S.C. at 31, 667 S.E.2d at 732 ("To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.") Betty Ann Cleveland testified she owned the house where the incident occurred and allowed Starks and Victim to live there. A police officer spoke to Cleveland on the night of the incident, and she informed both Starks and Victim had a right to be in the house. Unlike in *Bryant*, where the defendant's hotel room was considered his dwelling, here, the was no evidence Starks had any ownership stake in the house. 391 S.C. at 227, 705 S.E.2d at 466. Thus, we find Starks and Victim were cohabitants of Mother's home at the time of the incident such that neither had any right over the other as it related to the house. As a result, we conclude the trial court correctly denied Stark's request to charge the defense of habitation and instead charge self-defense and voluntary manslaughter.... *Smith*, 226 S.C. at 419-420, 85 S.E.2d at 409 (holding [t]he law of habitation ha[s] no relevancy, and the rules as to self-defense [are] alone applicable" when the victim is "neither and intruder or a trespasser" and the defendant and victim "[stand] on equal grounds and neither [have] any right over the other"); 40 C.J.S. *Homicide* § 175 (2014) (explaining "the rights of a householder

against a violent intruder have no relevancy, and the *ordinary rules as to self-defense are alone applicable, where the deceased was not even a trespasser* but was lawfully in the house, as where the deceased and the accused reside in the same dwelling” (emphasis added) (footnote omitted)).

To the contrary, the deceased lost his status as an equal and lawful cohabitant in the house, where petitioner was also a lawful and equal cohabitant, and became a trespasser and intruder when he (deceased) violently burst into and knocked down petitioner’s locked bedroom door while intoxicated prior to the stabbing. Actually, petitioner retreated to his bedroom per his mother’s order (even though he had no duty to retreat), after the police informed the deceased that his mother owned the house and that petitioner, who was her son, had a right to be in the house. Like the defendant in Bryant<sup>1</sup>, who did not invite the intruder into his hotel room, petitioner did not invite the decedent into his bedroom. Furthermore, like the intruder in Bryant, who entered without the defendant’s consent, the decedent in the case at bar entered petitioner’s room without consent. The decedent’s act of bursting through petitioner’s bedroom door categorized him as a trespasser. Hence, the decedent was trespassing in petitioner’s room and committed a violent act against petitioner by slapping/backhanding him during the trespass. Additionally, in response to the decedent’s entering petitioner’s bedroom as a trespasser and perpetrating a violent act therein, the petitioner held up a knife, which he had in his room to cut in half the sandwich he had made earlier, and the struggle at that point occurred during petitioner’s ejection of the decedent. Although the

---

<sup>1</sup> In Bryant, the defendant, a vulnerable paraplegic defendant who was confined to a wheelchair, tried to escape from a man who entered into his (defendant’s) hotel room without invitation. The Bryant Court held that the intruder whom the defendant shot became a trespasser when he forced himself into the defendant’s hotel room. Once inside the hotel room, the intruder threatened to kill the defendant and advanced toward the defendant; and at that point the defendant “defend[ed] himself from imminent attack on his own premise,” by employing force to eject the trespasser.

act to eject the decedent was via a knife and ultimately deadly, “one is permitted to use deadly force against a trespasser, with no duty to retreat, before taking the life of the trespasser.” State v. Bryant, supra.

A person who defends himself from imminent attack on his own premises is entitled to a charge on the defense of habitation. State v. Lee, 293 SC 536, 362 S.E. 2d 24 (1987). The defense of habitation provides that defending one’s home or premises means ending an unwarranted intrusion through the use of reasonably necessary means of ejection. State v. Bryant, 391 SC 225, 705 S.E. 2d 465 (2011); State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E. 2d 321 (2007). In order to establish the defense of habitation, a defendant must establish that a trespass occurred and that the chosen act of ejection was reasonable under the circumstances, even to the point of taking one’s life. State v. Bryant, supra; State v. Sparks, 179 SC 135, 183 S.E. 719 (1936).

See State v. Sullivan, 345 SC 169, 547 S.E. 2d 183 (2001), where the Court reversed where the defense of habitation was not charged because the fighting aggressor who was in the defendant’s house had been told to leave by the defendant, but the aggressor refused to do so and defiantly advanced toward the defendant until he was struck down by the defendant’s gunfire. In Rye, the Court reversed because the trial judge failed to charge the defense of habitation where the defendant shot an intruder who was armed with guns and had been repeatedly shooting his (defendant’s) pets and stealing equipment from his property after he saw the armed intruder on his property, along with another dead pet were on his steps. The Rye Court held that the case presented a jury question as to whether the defendant was acting in defense of his habitation. Compare also, State v. Bradley, 126 SC 528, 120 S.E. 240 (1923) and State v. Brocks, 79 S.C. 144, 60 S.E. 518 (1908).

Additionally, petitioner possessed a reasonable expectation in his locked bedroom. It was clear that petitioner lived with the mother of his child and that he also lived with his mother and the