STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR 22 2016

CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS
Appeal from Richland County
The Honorable Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge

SC SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 2015-UP-548 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 2, 2015)

Appellate Case No. 2011-201146

Thaddeuss Starks, #284256, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the January 2007 term of General Sessions for Murder (2007-GS-40-9503). (App. p. 901-02). Michael D. McMullen, Esquire, represented Petitioner. On October 8, 2007, Petitioner proceeded to trial and was found guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper sentenced Petitioner to ten (10) years' imprisonment. No direct appeal was taken.

On February 26, 2008, Petitioner filed the current application for post-conviction relief (PCR) with the Richland County Clerk of Court (2008-CP-40-1439). The State filed a Return on March 30, 2009, requesting the matter be set for an evidentiary hearing. On March 17, 2010, a hearing was convened at the Richland County Courthouse before the Honorable Alison R. Lee, at which Petitioner was present and represented by Jeremy A. Thompson, Esquire. The State was represented by Brian Petrano of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. By amended order filed September 29, 2011, Judge Lee denied Petitioner's request for relief on all grounds except for a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State¹. Pursuant to the PCR court's grant of a belated appeal, a notice of appeal was filed and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted, accompanied by the Brief of Petitioner. Respondent filed a return to the petition and a brief pursuant to White v. State on January 29, 2013. On May 8, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted certiorari to review the case on belated direct appeal and then affirmed the case on December 2, 2015.

Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on December 17, 2015, which was subsequently denied on January 21, 2016. Petitioner then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals on February 22, 2016. The return follows.

¹ 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

The victim was a permissible guest and was not a trespasser or intruder; therefore, Petitioner was not entitled to a jury charge on the defense of habitation.

Certiorari is not warranted in this case because the court of appeals was correct in finding the trial court was correct in denying Petitioner’s request to charge the defense of habitation. Petitioner argues he was entitled to a defense of habitation charge because the victim’s status changed from lawful occupant to trespasser when he allegedly became violent. Respondent submits the victim was a cohabitant of the home and was not a trespasser.

How the issue was raised below

In the early evening hours of October 12, 2006, Alphonzo “Al” Starks (hereafter “Victim”) was stabbed in the chest and killed by Petitioner during an altercation in Victim’s wife’s home. Victim was Petitioner’s stepfather and had been married to Petitioner’s mother for approximately thirty-three (33) years at the time of the incident. (App. p. 454, lines 3-7). Petitioner’s mother lived at the house for roughly six (6) years prior to the incident, during which time both Victim and Petitioner “came and went.” (App. p. 88, lines 11-15; p. 88, line 24 – p. 89, line 3; p. 454, line 18 – p. 455, line 6). Victim’s wife was the sole owner of the house and had given both Victim and Petitioner express permission to stay at the house. (App. p. 469, lines 2-6).

On the night of October 12th, Petitioner and Victim were involved in an argument recounted at trial by next-door neighbor Timothy Cornish (hererafter “Cornish”). Cornish testified he and Victim were friends, and said he gathered from his conversations with Victim that Victim felt Petitioner “was coming back and forth” between Victim’s house and Petitioner’s girlfriend’s house, but was not “pulling [his] fair share around the house”. (App. p. 89, line 17 – p. 91, line 15). Cornish went on to say after seeing a police cruiser stop by the house earlier in the evening and then leave, he heard Petitioner and Victim continue to argue. (App. p. 94, lines. 3 – 24). Upon hearing Victim call his name, Cornish went outside and spoke with Victim who said he would not let Petitioner disrespect him in his own house. (App. p. 95, line 17 – p. 97, line 21). Cornish noted Victim asked for a gun, but said he told Victim to calm down and go back in the house. (App. p. 99, lines 15 – 25). Cornish said after fifteen or twenty minutes, he heard Victim yelling Cornish’s name outside again, so he ran outside and brought Victim back into his house. (App. p. 102, lines 11 – 24). Cornish testified once inside, he realized Victim’s shirt was ripped and noticed Victim was bleeding from his chest profusely, so he started to administer first aid. (App p. 103, lines 19 – 22).

Cornish said while he was tending to Victim, Petitioner “came over in a very aggressive manner” threatening to kick Victim while he was on the ground, unresponsive. (App. p. 104, line 22 – p. 105, line 17). Cornish testified when he asked Petitioner what happened, Petitioner said “[Victim] came over, kicked the door open and slapped [Petitioner]”, so Petitioner “stabbed him”. (App. p. 105, line 23 – p. 106, line 1). The first responding officer on the scene, Lance Corporal John Carwell also testified that upon his arrival at the scene, Petitioner said he “had locked himself in his bedroom in an attempt to stay away from Victim”, but “[Victim] kicked in his bedroom door” and “slapped [Petitioner] on the face”, at which time Petitioner stabbed

Victim with a kitchen knife. (App. p. 145, line 24 – p. 146, line 5). Deputy Stephanie Watford testified similarly, detailing Victim’s statement to her and Investigator Isenhoward in a consistent manner with the recount given by Carwell. (App. p. 177, line 21 – p. 178, line 2). Investigator Kevin Isenhoward also testified as to Petitioner’s statement about the altercation detailing the same pertinent facts set forth above. (App. p. 281, line 16 – p. 282, line 17).

At the close of the state’s case-in-chief, counsel for Petitioner argued for a directed verdict on the murder charge on grounds of a habitation defense, stating “there [had] been nothing in the evidence to suggest” any scenario other than Petitioner exercising reasonable means of ejection to stop Victim’s trespass. (App. p. 411, lines 8 – 24). The State, in response, argued “[t]here [had] been no evidence submitted by the defense or anything submitted by the state that would suggest at any time [Petitioner] was trying to eject [Victim] . . . from those premises.” (App. p. 415, line 24 – p. 416, line 2). The State went on to note there was “no evidence to show that [Victim] was an intruder”. (ROA p. 416, l.

At the close of the defense’s case, Petitioner requested the jury be charged with the lesser included voluntary manslaughter, self-defense and the defense of habitation. (App. p. 549, line 12 – p. 550, line 23; p. 622, line 23 – p. 625, line 22). Judge Cooper granted the requests to charge voluntary manslaughter and self-defense, but denied the request to charge habitation finding the evidence did not support such a charge based upon statutory interpretation and the relevant case law. (App. p. 634, lines 20 – 24). Counsel took exception to the Judge Cooper’s denial of that request following the jury charge. (App. p. 714, lines 5 – 6).

Relevant Law

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under

prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

Analysis

Respondent asks this Court to deny the petition because the defense of habitation is inapplicable to the facts of the case. "[T]he trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). "If there is any evidence to support a jury charge, a trial judge should grant the request." State v. Brown, 362 S.C. 258, 262, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. Att. 2004). "To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." Id. Petitioner's argument is without merit.

"As the defense of habitation provides, defending one's home or premises means ending an unwarranted intrusion through the use of reasonably necessary means of ejection." State v. Bradley, 126 S.C. 528, 533, 120 S.E.2d 240, 242 (1923). "For the defense of habitation to apply, a defendant need only establish that a trespass has occurred and that his chosen means of ejection were reasonable under the circumstances." Id. "[T]he defense of habitation provides that where one attempts to force himself into another's dwelling, the law permits an owner to use reasonable force to expel the trespasser." State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 124, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007). Respondent submits the court of appeals did not err in finding the charge inapplicable

because Victim was not a trespasser and there was no evidence presented that Petitioner attempted to eject Victim.

Petitioner cites State v. Bryant, 391 S.C. 225, 705 S.E.2d 465 (Ct. App. 2010), in support of his argument that Victim lost his status as a lawful cohabitant and became a trespasser when he allegedly became aggressive. Bryant held that a defendant who lived in a hotel room was entitled to a jury charge on habitation when a trespasser attempted to force himself into the defendant's hotel room. The court of appeals was correct to distinguish Bryant from this case because no evidence was presented at trial to support a finding Victim was a trespasser attempting to force himself into the dwelling of another, or that Petitioner had the authority to undertake such an ejection.

In State v. Smith, 226 S.C. 418, 85 S.E.2d 409 (1955), this Court found the trial court properly denied a request to charge the jury on the law of habitation where "both parties involved stood on equal grounds" and "neither had any right over the other in so far as the place where [the incident] happened". Id. at 419 – 420. In Smith, the victim was a farm hand working for and living across the street from Mrs. Coates. Defendant, Mrs. Coates's son-in-law, had recently moved in with Mrs. Coates to care for her following a recent operation. One evening, following an argument between victim and defendant in Mrs. Coates's personal bedroom, defendant struck victim several times with his fist and cut victim severely with a knife. Defendant alleged he did so in self-defense as victim was reaching for a nearby rifle. At trial, defendant's request for a charge on the law of habitation was denied. The court noted the victim was neither an intruder nor a trespasser, but rather carried the status of a guest in Mrs. Coates's home. Under the circumstances, the court ruled, defendant "certainly had no right to eject" victim from the home. Therefore, "the law of habitation had no relevancy, and the rules as to self-defense were alone

applicable.” Id. at 420.

Similarly, both Victim and Petitioner were merely permissible guests in Victim’s wife’s home, which she owned solely in her name. The testimony was uncontroverted she gave both Petitioner and Victim explicit permission to reside in her home. Therefore, like in Smith, neither had “any right over the other” and the two “stood on equal grounds” in their ability to enforce the rights of the owner. Victim here, like victim in Smith, was neither an intruder in the home nor a trespasser, nor was there any evidence to indicate that the rightful owner of the house ever asked Victim to leave the residence. Petitioner had no right to “eject” Victim, a permissible guest in the house, from any portion of the dwelling. Accordingly, the law of habitation had no relevancy and was wholly unsupported by the evidence presented at trial. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying Petitioner’s request for such a charge.

Such a determination is reinforced when looking to the statutory language and legislative intent set forth in the “Protection of Persons and Property Act”. Under S.C. Code §16-11-440, the act provides a “presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person” justifies the use of “deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury” against a person “unlawfully and forcefully entering . . . a dwelling”, but specifically sets forth such a presumption is **not** applicable if the person “against whom the deadly force is used has the right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling.” It is clear the legislature sought to carve out an exception to the defense of habitation when applied to those rightfully and/or lawfully within the dwelling. The evidence in the record is uncontroverted, and Petitioner readily conceded to the jury at trial that Victim had the right to be in the dwelling per his wife’s permission.

Therefore, the trial court properly denied Petitioner’s request to charge the law of

habitation as a defense to the charge as there was no evidence presented to support such a charge. Accordingly, this Court should deny the petition.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals.